Lady wishes to meet with Child, about ten or eleven years old, to educate with her one little daughter.  Fully qualified resident governess.  Terms by arrangement.

30 Selborne Road, Handsworth Wood.
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No. 42 – Councillor S Adkins.

Few men if any are more conversant with life as it is lived in Handsworth than Mr Samuel Adkins.  For many years his business and inclinations have conspired to bring him into contact with all sorts and conditions of men and women and it were strange indeed if he had not taken a few mental notes of the character and worth of more prominent members of the community and the needs and aspirations of Handsworth people in general, with a little extra attention to the wants of the labouring classes from whom he has sprung.  In religious and political scenes of action he is a champion to feel proud of – enthusiastic, untiring, of sound judgment and shows common sense.  He is equally at home in the senate, on the platform and in the pulpit and is altogether a very proper townsman and a man of parts withal.

He was born at West Bromwich, but almost his earliest recollections are of Handsworth, his father the late William Adkins, coming to reside here in 1856, when Samuel was a boy of four.  That he has witnessed many and surprising changes during the forty-one years of his residence in Handsworth goes without saying.  Handsworth when he first knew it was almost as idyllic a place as –
“Sweet Auburn! Loveliest village of the plain,

Where health and plenty cheered the labouring swain

Where smiling spring its earliest visit paid,

And partying summers lingering blooms delayed.”

The population of the parish was then well under 10,000 and green meadows and fragrant orchards and gardens flourished where now are busy shops and crowded streets.  Today Handsworth has a population of 43,000 and cannot afford to rhapsodise over its truly rural beauties any longer.  Where the famous Cornwall Works now stand Mr Adkins has fished in a stream for minnows, exploited an orchard for its celebrated apples and run up “centuries” at cricket.
He was educated at St James’ School, or rather he there obtained the rudiments of his education, for he has been an earnest home student all his life.  His pedagogue, Mr Crockford, was a clever but somewhat irascible man.  He was convinced like Solomon of old that to spare the rod was to spoil the child and no children over whom he was placed were allowed to spoil.  He had a fascinating method of gently slipping his hand under his coat tails whenever the occasion warranted, or seemed to warrant, the exercise of a little correction and with a pleasant smile he would produce a small strap with a string on its tail and woe betide the luckless wight who had aroused his ire.  That was the good old method of inculcating morals of which our grand-parents were so fond.  Doubtless it had its weak side, but the chances are that it made few cads or cowards and none at all amongst boys with any stamina in them.
Ere he had reached his teens Samuel Adkins was engaged at the Manchester Works (now the Surrey Works), Smethwick, where the steel was rolled, which afterwards did duty in the crinolines worn by the ladies of that period.  He changed his situation several times to “better himself” as the phrase goes and was at one time employed at Soho Foundry (James Watt & Co, Engineers).  In 1869 he went to work at the Birmingham Plate Glass Works, Smethwick, and where in February 1870 he met with an accident which necessitated his removal to the General Hospital, where his injuries were attended to and his arm eventually amputated by Dr Oliver Pemberton, who afterwards became Coroner for Birmingham.  Among his assistants was Dr Welch, late Medical Officer of Health for Handsworth.  Each doctor kept a niche in his memory for the patient and as recently as the beginning of last year Mr Pemberton wrote to Mr Adkins a congratulatory letter on his prosperity in business and election in the District Council.

Whilst lying in the hospital ward young Adkins procured copy-books and pen and ink and gallantly set himself the task of learning to write legibly with the left hand.  He was soon able to use the pen as deftly and neatly with his left hand as most calligraphers can with their right and ultimately obtained a situation in the office of the Birmingham Plate Glass Works.  He still kept up his home studies and in 1876 added “the winged art” of shorthand to their number.  The phonographic teacher to whom he applied for tuition smiled incredulously at his eagerness to learn.  He advanced irrefutable arguments to prove that a one-armed man (the missing arm being the right) could not write shorthand at a sufficiently rapid rate to be of use.  Adkins persevered however and in eleven months sat for his examination and obtained a certificate as a qualified teacher of phonography.  He afterwards conducted a shorthand class and even now can take a shorthand note of a speech which would not disgrace a full-fledged journalist.
In 1874 the Plate Glass Works became the property of Messrs. Chance, who closed them entirely in 1877.  Adkins was by this time a married man and had two children.  He was one of a hundred applicants for a situation as wages clerk and obtained the appointment, filling up his spare time by teaching shorthand.

In 1883 he commenced in the insurance business as agent for a great company and in this has been remarkably successful.

Many of our readers know him best perhaps as a clever and practical local preacher.  He is a Primitive Methodist and has for many years associated himself with the little chapel Street, formerly called Connexion Street.  The chapel has prospered.  When Mr Adkins first attended, it was a room over a cellar which had always a few feet of water in it.  The room being “unfit for habitation” the religious enthusiasts who tenanted it had to pay a rental of only 1s per week.  It was voted an agreeable change, in wet weather, from the street corner where the services were previously held and if there were whispers about rats and black beetles, militant Christians were not to be very easily daunted.  The cause of Methodism grew.  The damp room in Chapel Street became metamorphosed into a snug little chapel capable of holding quite fifty persons.  William Adkins, the father of our subject, who was one of the first converts to Primitive Methodism in the district, started a Sunday School and filled the treble role of superintendent, teacher and secretary.
Samuel Adkins followed in the footsteps of his sire and yielding to the persuasion of his friends, decided to try his fortune as a local preacher, preaching his trial sermons before the ministers of the circuit and becoming a duly qualified lay parson in 1879.  A minister being appointed to the circuit with whom he could not work harmoniously he, a few years later, drifted away from Chapel Street and joined the Asbury Memorial Chapel, a sermon in that place of worship by the Rev. John Hartley, the Governor of Handsworth College at that time, having profoundly affected him.  He joined a Bible Class for men, conducted by Mr Hartshorne, Mr Boyns and Mr W Ward.  Mr Henry Bissiker after a visit to South Africa returned to the class and almost treading on his heels, the Rev. H S B Yates.  The edict went forth that henceforth the class was to be thrown open to the two sexes and held in the chapel.  A free tea was given on Saturday, October 6th, 1888 to which the members, their wives and their friends were invited.  Mr Yates gave an interesting lecture entitled “a trip to China” and subsequently 130 persons enrolled themselves as members, bringing up the total to over 200.
Asbury P.S.A Class was commenced on Sunday, October 7th, 1888 the following being the officers.  Presidents:  Rev. H S B .  Presidents:  Rev. H S B Yates and Mr Henry Bissiker.  General Secretary: Mr S Adkins.  Assistant Secretary: Mr W Hadley.  Treasurers: Messrs. W G Griffith and J Payne.  Mr Bissiker left in October 1890 and dismal prognostications were uttered as to the future of the class.  The bulk of the work now devolved upon Mr Adkins who had the gratification of watching the class grow in membership within the next six months from 600 to 744.  Mr Yates left on August 30th, 1891, Mr W H Davies being appointed president.  The secretary resigned in 1892, in consequence of ill-health and pressure of business engagements but he had the satisfaction of leaving when the class was at its zenith, there being over 800 names on the register and an average attendance of 700.  He remained a vice-president of the class however until 1894.
His connection with Chapel Street was never quite severed and now he became more regular in his attendance there.  At the present time he is a trustee of the Primitive Methodist Chapel, Chapel secretary, senior society steward and holds various circuit offices.
A dispute, into the nature of which it is unnecessary for us to enter, occurred amongst the members of the committee of the Asbury Bible Class and in consequence of this a meeting was held in the Boulton Road Board School on the afternoon of Sunday, April 7th, 1895, to consider the advisability of starting a new class.  Mr Adkins was in the chair.  As a result of that meeting the Handsworth Adult Bible Class was formed, the officers, singularly enough being precisely the same as at one time did duty at Asbury.  Mr W H Davies was elected president, Mr Adkins secretary and Mr W G Griffith treasurers – appointments still held by these gentlemen.  The class now two and a half years old has a membership of over 600 and the Central Hall of the Boulton Road School in which the services are held, is filled each Sunday afternoon to its utmost capacity.

In politics Mr Adkins is a thorough-going Liberal.  He has been connected with the local Liberal Association for about sixteen years and for some time acted as secretary and registration agent.  He worked very hard in the General Election of 1892 in support of the candidature of Sir High Gilzean Reid, being placed in charge of the central committee room at Portland House, Soho Hill.  Mr Grove Shaw was the election agent and upon him and the subject of our sketch fell the bulk of the work.  He is at the present time a member of the divisional executive and one of the representatives of the Handsworth Division on the National Liberal Federation.  Though an ardent Radical, he does not carry his politics into local affairs and when in1894 he consented to stand for the newly-formed District Council in the interests of a large working class population, he stood as a Working-man Candidate.  There were twenty-one candidates for fifteen seats and he was amongst those successful, the working-classes for the first time being directly represented upon the premier local authority.  Handsworth being divided into five wards, the whole of the fifteen members had to come out again and on the 30th of March, 1896, there was another contest.  Three representatives had to be elected for each ward.  Mr Adkins stood for Murdock Ward, the other candidates being Messrs. E J Abbott, J Edwards and F Lempriere.  The fight was a stern one.  It had to decide the question of the length of the term of office of each of the elected candidates, the first serving for three years, the second for two years and the third for one year.  The result was as follows:  Adkins 499; Abbott 298; Edwards 217; Lempriere 152.  He has been most punctual and regular in his attendance and has been instrumental in getting a fair wages clause passed by the Council, the courts and terraces of the district lighted and the scale of charges for the Lecture Halls at the Public Buildings reduced.  He has also championed the cause of allotment holders in the parish.  He is a member of the following committees:- Sanitary, Highway, Park and Fire Brigade, General Purposes, District Sewage, Technical Instruction, Technical Instruction School, Management and General Purposes and is one of the representatives of the Council upon the Aston Manor and Handsworth Joint Sewerage Committee.
---------------------

The Misses Gell, the well-known Children’s Costumiers, of the Great Western Arcade, have earned too great a reputation for the artistic and beautiful character of their productions to need any eulogy from us.  At this season of the year however, when children’s parties are more numerous that at any other, attractive and suitable apparel is in great demand and it will doubtless be of use to many of our readers to remind them of an establishment at which can be obtained to greater advantage than elsewhere.  The smocking done by the Misses Gell is a revelation to those who know only “the common or garden type” and for beauty and effect is not to be surpassed anywhere in the country. We advise our readers to give the Misses Gell a call for the purposes of inspecting the splendid show of seasonable novelties they are now making.
----------------

There is a growing disposition amongst people to buy their Christmas puddings ready-made and to meet such demand, Mr Alfred Hughes of the Garden Restaurant in Paradise Street, and who has won such a reputation as a maker of high-class confectionery and biscuits, has made special arrangements at his large biscuit factory in Moor Street to have a constant supply to meet all requirements.  Of course, in buying plum puddings one will be somewhat fastidious and particular as to the quality and purity of the ingredients, but in this case the utmost confidence may be felt for Mr Hughes’ goods are known far and wide for their supreme excellence.  Indeed, whatever he makes it may be relied upon that he makes it of the finest materials and in the best possible style.
